SC#935629

RECEIVED ELECTRONIC.

No. 332411

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Kittitas County Superior Court Cause No.13-2-00074-4

KITTITAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Washington

Plaintiff/Respondent

v,

SKY ALLPHIN, ABC HOLDINGS, INC., and CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.

Defendants/Appellants

#### Petition for Review

DAVIS, ARNEIL LAW FIRM, LLP Nicholas J. Lofing, WSBA No. 43938 617 Washington Street Wenatchee, WA 98801 (509) 662-3551 Attorneys for Appellants



###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that Kittitas County ("County") can claim exempt previously unrestricted public records exchanged with a separate governmental agency under the attorney work product and common interest doctrines conflicts with decisions of this Court and involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the this Court. Appellant Chem-Safe requested records, including email correspondence between the County and the Department of Ecology ("DOE"), related to Chem-Safe's business operations and facility.

While the DOE released such correspondence records (even including its attorney's legal opinion that the public records were not exempt), the County delayed releases of, claimed exempt, and withheld the emails, including preemptively suing Chem-Safe for injunctive relief. Chem-Safe defended the suit and counterclaimed that the records were unlawfully withheld for ulterior purposes and that the attorney work product doctrine could not protect emails exchanged between separate agencies with no joint presentation agreement, other indicia of confidentiality, or explanation of the exemption.

The Court of Appeals decision that the County and the DOE were members of the same legal team for purposes of application of the attorney work product exemption and the common interest doctrine conflicts with Wash.2d 716, 174 P.3d 60 (2007). The DOE, and its staff members, was not the hired or retained expert of the County, was not a party to or agent of the County, and served a different regulatory function under separate authority. Notably, the DOE has not claimed the same records to be exempt, and the DOE released, or would have released, the records but for the County's injunction naming the DOE. Both the County's and the DOE's earlier attorneys acknowledged that no exemption existed or that any exemption would have been subject to waiver. The common interest doctrine theory arose late in 2014, almost two years into the case. The County never claimed, explained, or suggested on any of its exemption logs or withholding correspondence that the records were withheld subject to a claim of common interest, in conflict with RCW 42.56.210(3) and this Court's decision in *City of Lakewood v. Koenig*, 182 Wash.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014).

The Court of Appeals decision that the inter-agency emails constitute work product, protected by the common interest doctrine, does not construe the Public Records Act's ("PRA") "exemptions narrowly . . . to promote the [PRA's] public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected". RCW 42.56.030. The DOE was not the County's retained expert, investigator, or representative, CR 26(b)(4), for purposes

of creating or possessing attorney work product on behalf of the County. The conclusion that two regulatory agencies conducting their businesses create attorney work product when they unrestrictedly email one another eviscerates the PRA's mandate and policy that it be "liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed" and exempts a vast number of regulatory agency records from public disclosure. RCW 42,56,030.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Chem-Safe Environmental, Inc., ABC Holdings, Inc., and Sky Allphin ("Chem-Safe" or "Mr. Allphin").

#### III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Chem-Safe seeks review of the decision in Kittitas County v. Sky Allphin et al, 33241-1-III, \_\_ P.3d \_\_ (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 9, 2015) ("Decision"). A copy of the Decision is attached.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Are inter-agency records exempt under the common interest doctrine when the records contain no particular indicia of confidentiality, no claim of mutual or common interest, and when the agencies are not parties to the same legal proceeding?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in its application of the work product doctrine by concluding that the DOE and the County were on the "same legal team" when the separate agencies provide separate functions,

were not parties to the same proceedings, had no joint prosecution agreement, and shared the records unrestrictedly among themselves?

3. Did the County wrongfully delay its response to the public records request when it used the installment method to stretch out its response over 16 months, with one installment containing as few as seven records and many installments containing few new or additional records?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Sky Allphin filed a request for public records with the County on October 17, 2012, requesting records related to his business operations, including correspondence between the County and the DOE. CP 1462, 1480. The County shut down his operations in 2011 for the alleged lack of an operating permit and an alleged spill. Mr. Allphin requested the County's and DOE's records to find out the location and circumstances of the alleged spill. The County finally acknowledged on June 4, 2013 that they had no evidence of a spill at the Chem-Safe facility.

On February 22, 2013, about four months after his public records request, the County sued Mr. Allphin for filing the request for public records. CP 1-8. Mr. Allphin had complied with his duties as a records requester and had not made demands of the County other than it release the responsive records. See e.g. CP 1462-64, 1497. The County moved for

a temporary restraining order (TRO), which it obtained, impropertly, exparte and without notice to Chem-Safe's counsel. CP 196-197, 307-308.

The ex parte TRO enjoined Mr. Allphin from requesting, receiving, or possessing a broad and undefined number of public records. CP 92-97. The TRO further restrained the DOE from releasing public records. *Id.* Mr. Allphin objected. CP 194-341. In subsequent hearings, the initial TRO was vacated entirely against Mr. Allphin and narrowed to specifically identified emails. CP 557-563, 661-677. Only the DOE was enjoined from releasing emails. CP 661-677. The TRO emails were specifically identified on the County's amended 4/2/2013 exemption log by author, recipient, date, time, and subject matter. CP 661-677.

The County had represented that it could submit the subject records for *in camera* review by March/April 2013. CP 49:21-22. The County represented that it would submit "the records to be reviewed *in* 

¹ The County's pursuit of the ex parte TRO was timed to interfere with Mr. Allphin's defense in related court proceedings. CP 1474; 197-98, 264, 266-71; 311-258. Within days of obtaining the ex parte TRO, the County scheduled a contempt hearing, at which Mr. Allphin was held in contempt after being restrained from using the key records in his defense, which showed the County knew the permit was not required and that unauthorized waste was not present. CP 197, ¶ 14, CP 264-65; see also CP 1474, CP 311-325. The records were solely within the agencies' possession, integral to Chem-Safe's defense, and discoverable under *Pappas v. Holloway*, 114 Wash.2d 198, 797 P.2d 30 (1990).

camera by close of business on Thursday March 28, 2013, before the matter is set for hearing on Monday, April 1, 2013." *Id.* However, after obtaining the ex parte TRO, the County delayed for over four months and refused to submit the records for review. CP 678-780, RP 207:8-12, 208:5-13. Finally, Mr. Allphin moved the Court to vacate the TRO or order the County to submit the records for *in camera* review. CP 680-712.

At the hearing set for Mr. Allphin's motions, the County submitted a sealed envelope of records to the judge and represented that it contained 11 emails identified by its cover index.<sup>2</sup> CP 781, RP 213:21-214:6, 215:23-217:23. The County represented to the Court that it no longer claimed exempt the remaining records previously enjoined by the TRO, and now only sought court review and protection of the 11 emails listed on the cover index. CP 781, RP 216:8-12.<sup>3</sup> The cover index identified the 11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As discovered in 2014, the County's envelope contained many more and different records. CP 1038-1087. At least 8 additional records had been stuffed in the envelope, and one of the records represented to be submitted *in camera* was not included at all. CP 1041, ¶¶ 4, 6-7, 11. Mr. Allphin requested the release of the records and sanctions for abusing the judicial processes of *in camera* review and sealing public records. CP 1088-1092. The superior court found the County's method of having the records sealed to be "very, very troubling," RP 267:17-19; 272-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Over the months following its claimed exemption as to the 50 emails on April 2, 2013, the County released 41 of the 50 records. CP 1468. The County released most of these as a direct result of the trial court's May 6, 2013 ruling that previously disclosed records could not be returned, sequestered, and destroyed as requested by the County. RP 84:10-24; CP 2207, CP 562-63. As the Court summarized, "the cat's out of the bag". *Id*.

emails specifically by author, recipient, date, and time. CP 781. On September 30, 2013, the superior court issued an 8-page memorandum decision that concluded the records were work product that no waiver had occurred because the County and the DOE were members of the same "legal team", and that the 11 records should be sealed. CP 782-789.

1, 1

On January 28, 2014, the County notified Mr. Allphin in writing that it had completed its records response. CP 1495. In total, the County had spent approximately 16 months and issued approximately 16 installments of records, together with voluminous exemption logs. Of the many withheld records, Chem-Safe challenged only those records identified on the exemption logs as exempt attorney work product when the record clearly demonstrated that it had been openly shared with the separate government agency, the DOE.

The County continued to release additional responsive records over the summer of 2014 and in to 2015, mostly in response to Chem-Safe's identification of the records from other sources and demand that they be released, despite the County's repeated assurances that it possessed no more responsive records. The County moved for summary judgment in the fall of 2014, and Chem-Safe joined together with a requested review of 21

additional records listed on various exemption logs and withheld as exempt attorney work product. CP 1211-1212; 1431-1432. The Court heard oral argument on December 23, 2014. CP 2721. After supplemental filings, the superior court entered the County's proposed orders. CP 2883-2890. Mr. Allphin appealed. CP 2991-3056. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court, except one claim related to six withheld records. Chem-Safe petitions for review.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the inter-agency records in this appeal are protected by the common interest doctrine conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court.

The Public Records Act ("PRA") is "a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records." *Soter v. Cowles Pub.*Co., 162 Wash.2d 716, 174 P.3d 60 (2007). The PRA "should be liberally construed and its exemptions should be narrowly construed in favor of disclosure." *Id.*; RCW 42.56.030. The legislature has legislatively weighed many competing policies before delineating narrow exemptions to the general requirement that agencies release records upon request. Withholding a record is only appropriate where "a listed exemption squarely applies." *Id.* 

The common interest doctrine is not a listed exemption. The common interest doctrine appears to have been first applied to a claimed work product exemption in *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wash.2d 827, 853-54, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) (citing, *Soter*, 162 Wash.2d at 731, 174 P3d 50). The doctrine is not an independent exemption, but an exception to waiver. *Id.*, 240 P.3d 120 (citing *Morgan v. City of Federal Way*, 166 Wash.2d 747, 757, 213 P.3d 596 (2009) for statement that the "presence of a third person during the communication waives the privilege, unless the third person is necessary for the communication, or has retained the attorney on a matter of 'common interest.'" (citations omitted)).

(1) The County did not even claim or identify the common interest doctrine as grounds for its wrongful withholding, making its exemption log deficient with the requirements of the Public Records Act and this Court's decisions.

Indisputably, the County did not identify or list the "common interest" theory on any of its exemption logs or correspondence related to its withholdings. *See* CP 2234, 2484-2553. The theory arose for the first time late in 2014, almost two years into the proceedings. CP 1466-67, ¶ 5. The County did not state that ground for exemption on any of its many exemption logs, public records release letters, or pleadings.

The PRA requires agencies to provide an explanation of how a claimed exemption applies to the record. RCW 42.56.210(3); City of

Lakewood v. Koenig, 182 Wash.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014) (stating that the "plain language of RCW 42.56.210(3) and our cases interpreting it are clear that an agency must identify 'with particularity' the specific record or information being withheld and the specific exemption authorizing the withholding" (emphasis in original)).

The County's exemption logs failed to provide any explanation as to how the work product doctrine or common interest doctrine applied to the challenged emails. Every record submitted for *in camera* review was withheld under an exemption log that provided no explanation, but cited only "attorney work product" and a long string cite of statutes, civil rules, and cases. See CP 1468, CP 1505-1512 (copy of County's 4/2/13 exemption log). The logs lacked any explanation, let alone in sufficient detail, to permit Mr. Allphin to determine whether the denied records were properly withheld, all of which violates the PRA. *City of Lakewood*, 182 Wash.2d at 95, 343 P.3d 335, stating an "agency must provide sufficient explanatory information for requestors to determine whether the exemptions are properly invoked." *See also Sanders*, 169 Wash.2d 827, 846, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) (noting that "[c]laimed exemptions cannot be vetted for validity if they are unexplained"); WAC 44-14-04004(4)(b)(ii).

(2) Even if the County would have identified the common interest doctrine as the basis for its withholding, the Court of Appeals application of the doctrine conflicts with this Court's decisions.

20 AC

Any grounds for protection of the emails was waived when the agencies unrestrictedly emailed one another. The "To" and the "From" lines identified in the County's exemption logs demonstrate that each of these emails consists of communication between County employees and DOE employees. See e.g., CP 1505-1512 (copy of County's 4/2/13 exemption log). The County did not inadvertently send these records. Rather, the County waived any protected, privileged, or confidential right to these records upon dissemination to a separate, third-party governmental agency not party to in the County's litigation with Mr. Allphin. The deliberate disclosure of protected materials results in a waiver of the protection. ER 502; Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 110 Wn. App. 133, 145, 39 P.3d 351 (Div. 2 2002).

The common interest doctrine functions as an exception to waiver of the privilege, but only applies where "the third person is necessary for the communication or has retained the attorney on a matter of 'common interest." Sanders, 169 Wash.2d at 854, 240 P.3d 120 (citing Morgan, 166 Wash.2d at 757, 213 P.3d 596 (internal citations omitted)). Here the DOE was not necessary for the communication, not retained on a matter of common interest, nor even a party to or agent of the underlying proceedings. The common interest doctrine is not an end run so vast as to

cover governmental records created in the course of regulatory business and shared unrestrictedly between governmental agencies. The scope of exempt records under the common interest doctrine cannot exceed the scope of exemption under the work product doctrine. The inter-agency emails did not further a joint strategy or common interest related to the County's lawsuits against Chem-Safe.

B. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the County and Department of Ecology were on the same legal team conflicts with this Courts' decision in *Soter*.

Upon Mr. Allphin's motions for *in camera* review, CP 699-712, CP 1431-32, the County submitted two envelopes of public records for in camera review. Though the County withheld hundreds of other records, Mr. Allphin challenged those records withheld under a claim of attorney work product when the exemption logs showed that the records were shared openly between the County and the DOE. *Id*.<sup>4</sup> The emails between the County and the DOE had been unrestrictedly shared between the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As to the first set of records, the trial court failed to find that disclosure would "clearly not be in the public interest" and "would substantially and irreparably damage a person or a vital government interest". CP 975-76. RCW 42,56,540, Soter, 162 Wash.2d at 757, 174 P.3d 60. The trial court also erred in not releasing the first set of records as a sanction for the County's inexcusable abuse of two highly-sensitive judicial processes: in camera review and sealing of public records. See footnote no. 2, above.

agencies, with no joint prosecution agreement, and with no indicia of confidentiality. Two independent agencies that have no joint prosecution agreement, and admit that there is no privilege between themselves, necessarily waive any legal protections and should not be allowed post facto to claim to be on the same "legal team" for purposes of denying access to public records.

These withheld records do not contain exempt content. After the superior court denied extension of a broad, undefined TRO, the County released many records it had originally claimed to be exempt work product. CP 557-563. The releases include the County's withholding of non-privileged communications. CP 1767-72. Some of those records contained only messages such as 'My calendar is clear tomorrow. What time do you want to meet?", CP 1760, yet the County claimed them exempt. CP 1742. Such emails are not mental impressions, thoughts, or theories protected as attorney work product. *Soter*, 162 Wash,2d at 735, 174 P.3d 60; CR 26(b)(3). Further, other than a generic automatic signature block, the emails were not marked with "confidential", "work product", or other indicia of intent to protect from disclosure. CP 2236-2479. The emails were correspondence between separate agency employees; they were not mental impressions that warrant the attorney

work product protection. *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wash.2d 595, 611, 963 P.2d 869 (1998).

The DOE was not a member of the County's "legal team", *Soter*, 162 Wash.2d at 734, 739, 174 P.3d 60, as applied to any of these records. There are no prior or mutual statements of intention supporting the County's theory that the DOE was part of the County's "legal team." CP 31:16-19; 32:13-16. There exists no joint prosecution agreement. CP 1467, 1499. Both the County's former attorney and the DOE's attorney had concluded that the records are not attorney-client privileged. CP 1467, 1499-1500; *see also* RP 18:20-19:1 (County attorney agreeing during ex parte TRO hearing that waiver would occur when trial court hypothetically asks whether a County attorney's legal strategy would lose its protected status if disclosed to the DOE). Just as the "attorney-client privilege does not exempt records merely because they reflect communications in meetings where legal counsel was present [...]," the work product privilege does not attach merely because agency employees copy an attorney on their emails. WAC 44-14-06002(3).

In *Soter*, the Washington Supreme Court decided in a 5-4 decision that the records created by a school district's retained investigative team in anticipation of litigation following a student's death constituted work product. *Id.*, 162 Wash.2d at 733, 174 P.3d 60. Most of the records were

handwritten notes of witness interviews taken by attorneys or members of the legal team. *Id.*, 162 Wash.2d at 730, 734, 744, 174 P.3d 60.

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