RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Oct 04, 2016, 10:08 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93562-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SKY ALLPHIN, ABC HOLDINGS, INC., and CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

KITTITAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth W. Harper, WSBA 25578 Menke Jackson Beyer, LLP 807 North 39th Avenue Yakima, WA 98902 509-575-0313

Attorneys for Respondent Kittitas County

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

IV. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Mr. Allphin's petition relies on demonstrating a conflict in other precedent pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Mr. Allphin's petition fails in light of a cohesive series of decisions beginning in 1998 with *Limstrom*, through the denial of review in *Koenig*, and concluding most recently with the denial of review in *Block v. City of Gold Bar*, 189

Wn. App. 262, 279-80, 355 P.3d 266 (2015), review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1037 (2016).

A. The PRA's controversy exemption is coextensive with the civil rules on attorney work product.

Mr. Allphin mainly avoids discussing Sanders. Mr. Allphin disputes how the Court of Appeals applied Sanders, but more is required to justify review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The evolution of the law leading to the unanimous decision in *Sanders* is important. In *Soter*, the Court built on its prior recognition that the PRA's controversy exemption is integrally related to the work product doctrine. *Soter*, 162 Wn.2d at 732-34. This view stemmed from the reasons that justify protection of work product material in the first place. *See Limstrom*, 136 Wn.2d at 609-10 (quoting *Hickman v. Taylor*, 329 U.S. 495 (1947)).

Soter cited the Limstrom lead opinion as the interpretation of the Court. Soter, 162 Wn.2d at 733, 740. In Soter, the Court emphasized that analysis of the controversy exemption necessarily linked the PRA to the Court's interpretation of "the civil discovery rule that applies to all cases." Id. at 743. Because of this linkage, any

¹ Sanders was discussed in only two sentences in Mr. Allphin's opening brief below. He has never even remotely attempted to distinguish Sanders. Appellant's Br. at 27-28

variation in interpretation of work product in the PRA context must necessarily impact not only "attorneys representing government agencies, but [...] will impact *all* attorneys engaging in civil practice." *Id*. (emphasis in original).

By the time of *Sanders*, the notion that the controversy exemption might mean anything other than the inquiry dictated by CR 26(b)(4) was dead. The issue received no discussion and there was no dissent. *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 854. The policy undergirding work product and CR 26(b)(4) for the controversy exemption was also confirmed through the denial of petitions for review arising out of *Koenig* in 2009 and *Block* in February 2016.

Mr. Allphin fails to identify any point of conflict with the foregoing arising from the decision below. This is a challenging problem for Mr. Allphin because the holding below is an almost unassailable implementation of *Sanders*. Instead of arguing about the trajectory of the law of work product and the PRA, Mr. Allphin's petition mainly just re-phrases his losing points from below.

² Compare, "[t]he common interest doctrine applies in the PRA context" (Decision at 14); with "The State responds that the 'common interest' doctrine is merely a common law exception to waiver of privilege that applies when parties share a common interest in litigation. The trial court agreed. [citation omitted] So do we." Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 853.

B. The common interest doctrine is part of work product common law and, by extension, the PRA's controversy exemption.

The petition's main argument is also the best illustration of Mr. Allphin's misguided view of the law. It is not even clear what Mr. Allphin would have this Court do -- other than overrule *Sanders* and *Soter*.

Mr. Allphin argues that the common interest doctrine is not an enumerated exemption under the PRA. He states that the PRA's exemptions must be strictly and narrowly construed. Petition at 9. But this does not give rise to a point of conflict between the decision below and *Sanders* or *Soter*. The common interest doctrine's role for the controversy exemption was addressed in *Sanders* and accepted as an exception to waiver of privilege. *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 833-34. The petition says nothing about this aspect of *Sanders*. The decision below cited *Sanders* for precisely this point. Decision at 14.

It is unnecessary for the Court to decide whether the common interest doctrine operates as a non-waiver rule for attorney work product. This is settled. *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 834. It is also unnecessary for the Court to decide whether the common interest doctrine has a recognized application to otherwise-confidential communications pertaining to common claims or defenses. This is also

settled. *Morgan v. City of Federal Way*, 166 Wn.2d 747, 757, 213 P.3d 596 (2009).

Mr. Allphin cannot defend his claim that the decision below erroneously implemented the common interest doctrine as an unlawful expansion of a PRA exemption. Petition at 8-10. It did no such thing, unless *Sanders* also did so. *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 854. Every jurisprudential argument enlisted by Mr. Allphin to justify review has already been resolved.

C. Mr. Allphin's remaining arguments are variations on his claim that the decision below confused the common interest doctrine with an enumerated PRA exemption.

Mr. Allphin's petition drifts between allegations of jurisprudential conflict and mere complaints that the case below was wrongly decided. As to the former, Mr. Allphin does not show any conflict between the decision and *Sanders*, nor any split in the decisions of lower courts. In the latter category, Mr. Allphin's arguments are based on how the common interest doctrine was applied in this case, which is not a topic supporting review.

Mr. Allphin argues that review is nevertheless justified because the decision below accepted the adequacy of the County's exemption logs even though the common interest doctrine was not listed on the logs as an exemption. Petition at 10. Mr. Allphin also argues that the decision below errs because it allowed the assertion of the common interest doctrine to encompass attorney work product communications between government agencies. Petition at 12. Neither of these issues rises to the level of a conflict warranting review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

1. An exemption log must identify exemptions and need not anticipate defense theories that may later arise in litigation.

Mr. Allphin's criticism of the adequacy of the County's exemption logs can be easily rejected. As Mr. Allphin acknowledges, "[t]he common interest doctrine is not a listed exemption." Petition at 9. This statement of course follows *Sanders*. What this means, though, is apparently lost on Mr. Allphin, because he faults the County for failing to identify the common interest doctrine as an exemption.

Petition at 9-10. Mr. Allphin's argument is nonsense. The common interest doctrine is not an exemption. It will generally arise in response to alleged waiver. There was no defect in the County's initial exemption log. It needed only to provide a brief explanation of how exemptions applied, not a comprehensive defense of those exemptions. RCW 42.56.210(3).

Consistent with *Sanders*, the County's logs contained an explanation of how the exemptions applied to each document withheld

or redacted. Decision at 24-26. An agency may make arguments in defense of its exemptions even when the arguments include reliance on other sources of authority that are not themselves PRA-recognized exemptions. Mr. Allphin's error is in claiming that this means that the County's exemptions improperly shifted.³ A contrary rule would require an agency to anticipate the arguments that a requestor might make to attack an exemption. An agency would have to supply the defenses against the attack as part of the exemption log. This would be utterly unworkable. No court has adopted this rule.

Mr. Allphin asserted in a brief dated May 1, 2013, that the County's work product exemption was waived due to the exchanges with Ecology. CP 400. During this same period, the County was preparing and disclosing exemption logs. CP 1549-1567; 843-850; 644-653. The grounds for exemption did not change, but the later logs also included a heading ("CONFIDENTIAL COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN COUNTY COUNSEL AND ECOLOGY STAFF") and a footer ("County Counsel to Ecology") that identified what later became the claim of common interest protection. CP 843-850; 644-653. No PRA policy is furthered by barring the County from raising the

³ For that matter, the explanations for the exemptions were on-point because they cited, among other cases, *Soter* and *Limstrom* – the same cases that laid the foundation for acknowledgement of the common interest doctrine by *Sanders*.

common interest doctrine later during litigation. The doctrine may be raised whenever there is a litigation incentive to raise it – this is the whole point of the doctrine, after all.

The defensive use of the common interest doctrine as a non-waiver rule is the definitive account of this topic below and is consistent with *Sanders*. Perhaps Mr. Allphin is implying that the County waived its right to assert non-waiver under the common interest doctrine. This is a novel view of the law and was never argued below. Mr. Allphin cites no authority in support.⁴

2. The common interest doctrine may apply between agencies.

Mr. Allphin argues that waiver caused by sharing otherwise privileged work product between government agencies is in conflict with *Sanders*. Petition at 12-16. The decision below is not in conflict with *Sanders*. This is again because the issue raised by Mr. Allphin was expressly addressed in that case. *Id.* at 837-41.

In Sanders the shared communication of work product material between agencies was not waived but was still privileged pursuant to

⁴ Such an argument would be doomed by *Sanders*. There, the common interest issue arose during litigation, not with the actual initial privilege log (the "entire document index" or "EDI"). *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 850-54. The estoppel-type argument Mr. Allphin makes here is "exactly the outcome we wished to avoid in *PAWS II*." *Id.* at 847 (citing *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994)).

the common interest doctrine. *Id.* at 842, 857. This was accurately perceived below. Decision at 14, n.5. Closer review of the record in *Sanders* shows that not only were the materials exchanged between different state government agencies, but also between state agencies and county officials including, like here, prosecuting attorneys. *See* Opening Brief of the Honorable Richard B. Sanders in *Sanders v. State*, Court of Appeals No. 35920-1-II, at Appendix II (June 30, 2008) (reproducing trial court opinion, Thurston County Superior Court No. 05-2-01439-1, at 13 (January 12, 2007)). Mr. Allphin offers no persuasive way to distinguish *Sanders* on this issue.

At least since *Soter*, and particularly in *Sanders*, this Court has not applied the work product doctrine differently in the government agency context than it would be applied in any other litigation under the civil discovery rules. *Soter*, 162 Wn.2d at 743 (in the PRA context "we are interpreting the civil discovery rule that applies to all civil cases."); *Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 854 ("documents that fall under the common interest doctrine 'are not discoverable in civil cases and so are exempt under the controversy exemption.""). The common interest doctrine accordingly is also available to agency litigants.

Other sources of authority are in accord. See, e.g., Modesto

Irrigation Dist. v. Gutierrez, 2007 WL 763370 (E.D. Cal. 2007)

(agencies shared common goals and responsibilities, common interest doctrine applied); United States v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 86 F.R.D. 603, 617 (D.D.C. 1980) (agencies with substantial identity of legal interest may exchange work product under common interest doctrine).

It does not suffice for Mr. Allphin to argue the absence of a written joint defense agreement between the County and Ecology. Petition at 14. It also does not advance Mr. Allphin's argument that Ecology was not "hired" by the County. Petition at 15. Neither of these factors was present in *Sanders*, and neither has been recognized as a required element of either the work product or common interest doctrines. *See, e.g., In re Grand Jury Subpoenas*, 902 F.2d 244, 249 (4th Cir. 1990) (summarizing cases). Parties seeking protection of the common interest doctrine need not have identical interests where it may be inferred that they are "allied in common legal cause [and] that disclosures are confidential." *United States v. Gonzales*, 669 F.3d 974, 979 (9th Cir. 2012). Other courts have held that these general principles do not vary even when the resulting effect relates to public records laws. *O'Boyle v. Borough of Long Port*, 218 N.J. 168, 199 (2014).

Here, the origins of the relationship between Ecology and the

County can be traced to Chem-Safe's solid waste violations. CP 1265. Representatives of the County and Ecology jointly worked to identify specific permit violations and develop a legal position that would support remedial action against Chem-Safe, including possible civil penalties and criminal charges. CP 2000-2012.

Chem-Safe's refusal to cooperate with voluntary compliance efforts provided a specific reasonable basis to anticipate litigation once the NOVA was issued (and possibly sooner). CP 2000-2012. This common interest and the creation of documents prepared in anticipation of litigation by parties or persons who were representatives of parties preceded and continued throughout litigation of the NOVA. CP 365. The earliest communications between the agencies at issue in this case date to February 2011 (CP 892) at a time when the County was consulting with Ecology over development of an operations plan for Chem-Safe (CP 915), and had already issued the NOVA. CP 1265-1269; 1270-1271. Chem-Safe appealed the NOVA on February 10, 2011. CP 2010.

The common interest doctrine's applicability to the subject records is particularly warranted in this case. A basic policy rationale for the work product doctrine is to protect the integrity of the legal

profession and the need of counsel to freely develop correct litigation strategy without risk that documents arising during this process might be preyed upon by their adversaries. *See* Lewis H. Orland, *Observations on the Work Product Rule*, 29 Gonz. L. Rev. 281, 282-84 (1994).

The invasion of this kind of material by a litigation opponent appears to have been the precise intent behind Mr. Allphin's records requests. CP 70-71. The requests did not inadvertently sweep too broadly and unintentionally extend to work product materials. Instead, the requests asked for materials encompassing attorneys' records of the prosecutor's office and its civil deputy and were targeted to reach the most sacrosanct category of all, attorney mental impressions. CP 70-71.

Rather than take responsibility for the consequences of this overreach, as by modifying the request, Mr. Allphin built this case on a flawed challenge to the foundations of the work product doctrine. In successive opinions, the trial court conducted in camera review of these records and found them to be work product. CP 782-789; 3006-3011. Performing its own in camera review, the Court of Appeals scrutinized the same records and also reviewed every communication found in 243

pages cited in Mr. Allphin's opening brief. Decision at 28. The Court of Appeals found that all of the emails were properly exempt with the exception of two pages comprised of a chain of six emails. Decision at 27-28. These emails were produced 98 days after the initial withholding. Decision at 28.

There is no reason under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) for this Court to grant review to revisit the general parameters of the attorney work product or common interest doctrines. No new law was created below on either issue.

D. The unpublished part of the decision does not merit review.

Regarding the unpublished portion of the decision below, Mr. Allphin argues that the County failed to provide prompt and timely responses under the PRA's "fullest assistance" clause at RCW 42.56.100. Petition at 16-20. The petition cites an internet blog in a footnote on its last page as support for any claim based on RAP 13.4(b)(4). Petition at 20, n.8. These are makeweight theories.

In this section the petition completely loses track of RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Allphin literally cites no case with which he contends the unpublished decision is in conflict. On these points the decision is highly fact-specific. It relates to the conduct of two parties and particular records in circumstances unlikely to recur. Mr. Allphin has

no valid argument based on the presence of an issue of substantial public interest pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012).

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